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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JANE DOE, : CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff, :

V.
PENNRIDGE SCHOOL :
DISTRICT, et al., : No. 17-3570

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Timothy R. Rice May 7, 2019
U.S. Magistrate Judge

Plaintiff Jane Doe claims Defendants Pedgei School District SD”), Superintendent
Jacqueline Rattigan, and Principal Gina DeB@udlectively, “Pennridge Defendants”) deprived
her of equal access to an edtion, as required by 20 U.S.€1681(a) (“Title IX") and 42
U.S.C. § 1983, by failing to adequately addtessallegations of sexual harassment. See
Compl. (doc. 1). Pennridge Defendants se@hrsary judgment regardjnall five of Doe’s
claims: (1) a Title IX claim against PSD; @)% 1983 retaliation claim against PSD; (3) a § 1983
failure to train claim against all Pennridgef@sdants; (4) a 8§ 1983 supervisory liability claim
against Rattigan and DeBona; and (5) an inbeali infliction of emotionbdistress claim against
all Pennridge Defendants. Def. Mem. (d68) at 3. Doe moves for summary judgment on
Claims 3 and 4, Pl. Mem. (doc. 81-1) at 2, gggmDefendants’ motion on Claims 1 and 2, but
does not contest dismissal of ClabnPl. Resp. (doc. 88) at 5 n.2.

Defendants’ unopposed motion is granted onr@li Because material factual disputes
exist on Claims 1 through 4, Doe’s motion is @ehiand Defendants’ motion is granted in part

and denied in pargs explained below.
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l. Summary Judgment Standard
Summary judgment is appropriatdnere “there is no genuirspute as to any material
fact and the movant is thed to judgment as a matter of lawked. R. Civ. P. 56(a). A genuine
dispute of material facts existhen “factual issues . . . may reasably be resolved in favor of

either party.” _Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ind.77 U.S. 242, 250 (1986). | must view the facts

and draw inferences in the light most favdeato the nonmoving party. See Burton v. Teleflex

Inc., 707 F.3d 417, 425 (3d Cir. 2013). Cross-motmnst be considered “separately, drawing

inferences against each movant in turAlford v. Hartford Life Ins. Co., No. 07-4527, 2008

WL 2329101, at *3 (E.D. Pa. June 3, 2008). | afsy not make credibility determinations or
weigh the evidence. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255.
. Undisputed Facts

In September 2014, Doe was a sophomoReanridge High School (“PHS”), PSOF |
2, and also attended a part-titeehnical school law enforcememrbgram with another student,
N., DSOF 11 11, 41. During that fall, N. became her boyfriend, and they dated through
approximately April 2015, 1d. 1 41. Doe allegd® was abused by N. during their relationship,
and they broke up following an April 2015 violentident in her bedroom that did not include
sexual assault, but resulted in multiple brsistd. 1 43, 45. On June 15, 2015, Doe informed
her 2014-15 school year guidarainselor, Lori D’Angelo, oher history with N. and

complained that he continued to harass her andh[] her” during school hours. Id. T 53; Def.

1 These facts come from Plaintiff's Staemb of Undisputed Fagt(doc. 81-3) (“PSOF”)

and Defendant’s response (doc. 86), as well deridant’s Statement of Undisputed Facts (doc.
79) (“DSOF”) and Plaintiff's response (doc. 88- Although I cite only PSOF or DSOF, each
reference incorporates the oppospagty’s corresponding response.



Ex. 172 D’Angelo emailed N.’s assistant principBlavid Laboski, to ask N. to have no further
contact with Doe. DSOF {1 54-55.

At the start of her junior year, on Septan4, 2015, Doe and her father met with Doe’s
assistant principal, Scott Hegen, again alleged N. had been abusive during the relationship, and
expressed concern that the abuse “may continBe.Ex. 10. Doe asked “to be sent to an Alt.
School or to Tech all day’”Id. Instead, PHS added Doe thétgirls anxiety group” as a “first
step.” Id. At that meeting, Doe reported thatalked about her, called her a “whore” and
“slut,” and threatened to kill himself if she wouldt get back together with him._Id.; Doe Dep.
at 85. She also mentioned being harassed émhanstudent, A., on behalf of N. over the
summer. PIl. Ex. 10. On September 15, 2015, @perted to her teacher, Brooke Roush, that
she was anxious in school, aaét in part because she hadféace the boy who assaulted her”
the prior year. Def. Ex. 28. On Septemb@r 2015, Doe met with her junior year guidance
counselor, Erik Henrysen, and explained #ta was uneasy around N. and was sharing a class
with N.’s new girlfriend, A9. Def. Ex. 31. Sheag requested placement in “all day tech.” Id.

On October 1, 2015, a certifiewurse practitioner frodoe’s primary care practice
opined that Doe’s anxiety justified placemenaihday technical school. DSOF { 75. On
October 2, 2015, Doe again requested full-tinee@ment in the technical program, and assistant

principal Hegen wrote in an email to luislleagues that, “[rflecommending her to thé itJnice

2 Defendants’ exhibits, numbered oneotigh 119, were submitted in support of

Defendants’ Statement of Undisputed Facts (@6y.. Plaintiff’'s exhibis one through 38 were
submitted in support of her Motion for Summary Judgment (doc. 81), and exhibits 39 through 75
were submitted in support of her Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for
Summary Judgment, FResp. (doc. 88).

3 This referred to the technicalsml that Doe attended part-time.

4 This is also a referente the technical school program.
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andall....but...NO.” Def. Ex. 33. Dard/or her family continued to request that PSD

place her full-time in the technical program October 14, 2015, Def. Ex. 34, and November 9,
2015, Def. Ex. 60. On November 13, 2015, Doe gave PSD a note from her treating therapist, a
licensed clinical social workewho also opined the full-time thenical program would be a more
appropriate placement for Doe to accooatate her anxiety. DSOF § 78.

On November 24, 2015, Doe reported to Hegenhatas stalking her. PIl. Ex. 15. She
submitted a written PSD incident report stating that N. was “torment[ing]” her, which was
witnessed by “everyone who sits with [herltie morning.” _Id. She reported that “N.
continuously shows up wherever | am.” Id.résponse to the incident form’s question about
how she wished she had handled the inciddfardntly, Doe wrote that she wished she had
“yelled since the school hasmlone anything to help.”_1dShe explained that “Mr. Hegen
doesn't see this as a huge concern.” Id.

That same day, PSD granted Doe a “permistiavaluate,” which allowed her to be
evaluated for the full-time technical schpobgram. DSOF  86. On December 7, 2015, Doe
met with Hegen and reported that N.’s cousi®, Was threatening to Hier, and she was still
being “follow[ed]” by N. Def. Ex. 66. Hegenoted Doe had not refied the physical threat
directly to her teacher. 1dOn December 8, 2015, Hegen contacted Doe’s parents to discuss
how best to support Doe at PHS. Def. Ex. 41. On December 9, 2015, Doe submitted another
incident report regarding T2. Def. Ex. 66.

On December 15, 2015, Ross Owens, a PSD school psychologist, informed his
colleagues he did not believe Doe would qudiifyfull-time technical school based on her
grades and attendance records. Def. Ex. 6@enrlexplained to Owens and Henrysen that Doe

nevertheless needed to be evaluated becaus&é&8EMo go through the process.” Def. Ex. 39.



On December 22, 2015, Doe and N. had a confrontation in the hallway and submitted
conflicting written accounts of the event. DefsE®2-45. Hegen contacted N.’s parents to let
them know that, although N. was “not indble,” further events “could be considered
harassment.” Def. Ex. 47. Doe requested atére placement again gart of her report of
that incident. Def. Ex. 42.

Doe renewed her request for alternativecpiment on January 14, 2016. Def. Ex. 75. On
February 9, 2016, Hegen opined thaelweas acting out in an effax get kicked out of PHS.

Def. Ex. 73. On March 4, 2016, Doe askedtteral cyber school. Def. Ex. 75. On March 14,
2016, Owens determined Doe did not qualify for educational sepandsherefore could not be
placed full-time in the technical program. Def. Ex. 77.

On April 12, 2016, during the spring of her janiear, Doe transfeed to the Twilight
program. PSOF { 41. This program consistedwf fo six hours per week of in-class time held
two to three evenings per weekiring which students completed printed coursework but did not
receive teacher-led instruction. Id. 1 43-44.eBompleted all Twilight course work for her
junior and senior years aigh school by May 12, 2016. DSOF { 163. Doe began, but did not
complete, a career internshippgram during her senior yead. { 165; Def. Ex. 14. Doe did
not attend PHS during her senior year, gnaiduated on June 8, 2017. DSOF { 178.

During the applicable time period, PSD’s Pglio. 248 addressed ifstle IX procedure
related to sexual harassment. Id. § 183icPdlo. 248 includes, ier alia, the following
provisions: “complaints of harassment shall ineestigated promptly,ral corrective action taken
when allegations are substantéateld. I 184; PIl. Ex. 7. hotes that “[n]o reprisals nor
retaliation shall occur as a result of good faith charges of harassment,” and defines “harassment”

as “verbal, written, graphic grhysical conduct relating an individual’'s race, color, national



origin/ethnicity, sex, age, disdiby, sexual orientation or rajion” only if that conduct has

certain effects or “[i]s sufficiently severe, persigter pervasive that it affects an individual's
ability to participate in or benefit from aducational program @ctivity or creates an

intimidating, threatening or abusive educatiog@ironment.” Pl. Ex. 7. The policy separately
defines “sexual harassment” as “unwelcomeaiatadvances; requests for sexual favors; and
other inappropriate verhakritten, graphic or physical conduct of a sexual nature when” one of a
series of other criteria are metcluding that “[s]uch conduct is Hiciently severe, persistent or
pervasive that it hasehpurpose or effect of substantialtyerfering with tle student’s school
performance or creating an intimidating, hostilefiensive educational environment.”_Id.

The policy also specifies the four stepgha complaint procedure, which include that,
“[u]pon receiving a complaint of unlawful harassmehe building principal shall immediately
notify the Compliance Officer.”_Id. It dirext[tlhe Compliance Officer [to] authorize the
building principal to investigate the complaingyid “[t]he building principal [to] prepare and
submit a written report to the Compliance Officer within fifteen (15) days.” Id. Finally, the
policy requires district aain as well. “If the investigation results in a finding that the complaint
is factual and constitutes a \aion of this policy, the districthall take prompt, corrective
action to ensure that such condoeases and will noecur. . . . If it is oncluded that a student
has knowingly made a false complaint under pubkcy, such studerghall be subject to
disciplinary action.”_1d.

PHS’s Student Handbook states that, “[o]nceprt of discrimination or harassment has
been made, an investigation will be conductell” Ex. 58. An unwritten PSD policy gives

administrators discretion to egjorize complaints as “harassriesr “peer conflict,” which is



not covered by PSD’s harassment policy. BRL. 6 at 226. Another unwritten PSD policy
authorizes assistant principalsinvestigate student-against-studeatassment. Pl. Ex. 5 at 249.

Defendant Rattigan was the supenttent of PSD during the 2015-16 and 2016-17
school years, and was responsible for develomagonable and necessary rules and regulations
to implement school board policies. DSOF {Defendant DeBona was the principal of PHS
during the same period, and was responsible for investigating complaints of harassment, a
responsibility she sometimes delegated to hest@sgiprincipals. PSOF § 8. Jacqui McHale
was the PHS compliance officer, or Title IX cdimrator, during the same period. Id. § 6.

PSD staff received in-person powerpoint preations that included information about
Title IX harassment in September or October 2013 and August 2014. DSOF 11 186-87.
Beginning in July 2015, Hegen attended quartaslsistant principal meetings run by Troy Price,
director of PSD administration,h@ reviewed district policiesld. § 205. Price also discussed
PSD policies at monthly principal meetings. Id. 1 244.

As of August 2015, however, Hegeould not identify the PSDitle IX coordinator.
PSOF 1 338. Since the fall of 2015, PSD staff larapleted online training through the global
compliance network, which includes issues relateTitle IX harassment. DSOF  190.
Plaintiff's Title IX expert, Dr. William A. Howereviewed the training materials and concluded
Pennridge’s training of empyees and students was inadequate. PI. Ex. 59 at 2.

I1l.  Claims1and 2: TitleI X Sexual Harassment and § 1983 Retaliation

Because only Pennridge Defendants haveed for summary judgment on the first two

claims, | must review the motion while viewingetfacts in the light mogavorable to Doe.

Burton, 707 F.3d at 425.



1. The Facts in the Light Most Favorable to Doe

In addition to the undisputed facts above, Doe testified that, duringeldy five-month
relationship with N., he “used to shove [hanld hold [her] wrists.” Doe Dep. at 41. This
occurred both inside and outsideschool. _Id. According tDoe, the relationship was both
physically and emotionally abusive. He cdlleer a “whore” and a “bitch,” insulted her
appearance, and tried to mauliate her into dropping out of the law enforcement program,
arguing it was not safe for females to be potiffecers. Id. at 50. They broke up after an
incident in her bedroom in which N. “shovedd&] down and bit [her] and held [her] wrists
down and was yelling at” herd.lat 37. Pennridge Defendants swgjdlat this incident was not
serious because Doe and her family never calleddhee. Def. Mem. at 4. Doe testified that
her father had wanted to go to the police,was$ convinced by Doe’s grandmother to handle the
incident directly with N.’s family instead. Doe Dep. at 44-46.

Sometime after the physical altation that ended her relatiship with N., Doe showed
pictures of her bruising to Hegend Henrysen. Id. at 47. Sdiso claims she discussed the
abusive relationship with two teacher’s aiddsat 169, 171, and that administrators promised
that during her junior year, N.’s classes wouldsbleeduled on the other side of the school from
hers, id. at 77. She testified she was promisezsaart to travel with hrebetween classes, id. at
103, but was never escorted or even giveessto a staff escort, id. at 108.

After the break-up, Doe received disappearingd@hat messages, first from N. and then,
after she blocked him, from unidentified people wtamed to be friends of his. Id. at 53-54.
The messages insulted her appearance, callétiter” and “whore,” and threatened that N.
would kill himself if Doe did not get back togetheith him. 1d. at 53-54, 193-94. Doe received

10-15 messages like these over summer between her sophomore and junior years of high



school. _Id. at 55. The messages from N.’s friemaisned her that it wodlbe Doe’s fault if N.
killed himself. _Id. at 73. They continued urdfter the December 2015cident in the middle of
her junior yeaP. 1d. at 86. In addition, during the fiisalf of her junior year, Doe would see N.
in the morning while eating herdakfast and congregatj with friends, and in the hallways. Id.
at 71. He would make comments under his braathcall her a “bitch” as she walked by. Id.
He would “show up” outside her classes dailyd ahe would see his friends laugh at whatever
comments he was making about her. Id. at 74, 76.

Doe contends she visited Hegen regularlyirduthe fall of 2015 to complain about N.
“show[ing] up wherever” she was, i.e., stalking fig?l. Ex. 15. The anonymous, disappearing
Snapchat messages included gender-basedasidnesulted in Doe feeling uncomfortable
continuing in the law enforcement program. elldep. at 60, 67. She stated Hegen called her

“crazy,” and a “drama queen” after her repeatechplaints during her junior year, id. at 102,

5 Defendants incorrectly summarize Doe’siteehy when they state she “said that N.
never touched her or called heldgar names after she broke-up witim.” Def. Resp. (doc. 87)
at 13. Although she acknowledged there wapmsical contact afteaheir break-up, she
testified that N. threatened to kill himsélshe would not resume their relationship, and
regularly called her a “bitch” whenever she wbphss him in the halls. Doe Dep. at 53, 71.
Defendants also misleadingly quote her testimmngtating she “admitted that none of N.’s
friends said anything to her the classroom or at school tmade her feel uncomfortable and
she could not identify even operson who made her uncomfortable.” Def. Resp. at 13.
Although Doe was unable to remember the names’sfffiends and testifié that none of them
spoke to her directly, she testdi¢hat they repeatedly contadtieer on social media to tell her
that it would be her fault if Ncommitted suicide, and laughed whenregularly insulted her in
the school hallways. Doe Dep. at 54, 72-76.

6 Defendants note that Doe reported multiple instances of peer conflict with female
students as well._See, e.g., Def. Ex. 66. Doe doedispute that thosepgerts and/or conflicts
took place, but disputes theigsificance to her clairof sexual harassment by N. PSODF { 87.
Viewed in the light most favorable to Doe, a juguld conclude those irstces of peer conflict
are irrelevant to her sexual harassment claim involving N.

9




and dismissed her allegations vaith investigation, id. at 77-78he alleges that at one point
Hegen barred her from speaking with herdamice counselor, Henms. 1d. at 105.

Although whether Doe complained to Hagevery day during the fall of 2015 is
disputed, documentation of Doe’s complaints regarding N.’s harassment during meetings with
administrators are dated September 4, 20HE5.(Bx. 29), September 16, 2015 (Def. Ex. 31),
October 2, 2015 (Def. Ex. 33)ctober 14, 2015 (Def. Ex. 3®lovember 24, 2015 (Def. Ex.
37), and December 22, 2015 (Def. Ex. 42). Indepeinoiethose six written complaints or
documented meetings, PSD administrators conttedddoe made in-person verbal complaints
at least once per week for the first six tghtiweeks of the 2015-16 school year. PSOF § 51
(citing Hegen Dep. at 431-32). Doe further @mus that she continued to complain of
harassment by N. after the December 2015 Incident. PSOF { 103.

2. Claim 1: Title IX Sexual Harrassment

To prove Title IX liability, Doe must shawl1) PSD received federal funds; (2) she was
sexually harassed; (3) PSD had “substantial c8raker both the harasgg) and the context of
the harassment; (4) PSD had “atkrmowledge” of the harassmer5) PSD was “deliberately
indifferent” to the harassmerand (6) the harassment deprivest of access to educational

opportunities or benefits. Davis v. MonroeyaBd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 650 (1999).

If credited, Doe’s evidence is sufficientrimise disputed issu@$ material fact on
whether: (1) Doe was sexually harassed; (2) R&actual knowledgef the harassment; (3)
PSD was deliberately indifferent to the harasstpand (4) the harassment caused a deprivation

of educational opportunities or benefitavis, 526 U.S. at 650.

! PSD does not dispute that it received fatiinds or had “substéial control.” See
generally, DSOF.

10



The parties agree Pennridge Defendants hawbntol over the assé that occurred in
Doe’s bedroom and that PSD had no “actual knowledge” of the abuse before June 5, 2015. PI.
Resp. (doc. 93) at 29. The disputes center on$&tions once it learned of Doe’s allegations
of prior abuse and ensuing harassment at school. Pennridge Defendants claim Doe wanted to
leave PHS because she did not get along with sthdents, not because she was afraid of N.
Def. Mem. at 11. They contend Doe had “anotgenda for wanting twansfer” schools,
revealed during the June 2015 meeting. Id. d&e, however, disputdhis, and her father,
who was at the June 2015 meeting and supposad the school counselor about Doe’s
alternative motivation, does not recall sayingktF. Dep. at 105. Doe maintains she felt
compelled to leave PHS when administrators refusgrovide her a safe learning environment.
See Def. Ex. 42. This is a jury issue that mustelselved at trial, i.e whether Doe actually felt

the harassment she endured created a hostilatamha environment. Andrews v. City of

Philadelphia, 895 F.2d 1469, 1482-83 (3d Cir. 1990).

A. Whether the Alleged Harassment was Sexual

As a threshold matter, | must determinesttter Doe has proffered sufficient evidence
which, if credited, would support a jury decisioattshe was sexually harassed as a student at
PHS. This is a close questi@specially in theantext of a high school dating relationship in
which no sexual assault occurred. Like Titké sexual harassment claims, Title IX hostile
educational environment claims must be roateidtentional sex disamination. Andrews, 895
F.2d at 1482 n.3. Although “[t]he intent to disoimate on the basis of sex in cases involving
sexual propositions, innuendo, pornographic materials, or sexual derogatory language . . . should
be recognized as a matter of course,” harassthanis “not sexual by [its] very nature” requires

a “more intensive factual analysis.” 1d. Foaaxle, repeated solicitations and any associated

11



“stalking” are considered sexual harassment. See Jones v. Indiana Area Sch. Dist., 397 F. Supp.

2d 628, 644-46 (W.D. Pa. 2005) (denying summary judgment on Title IX claim when mentally
impaired student repeatedly asked female stueste him, waited for her by her locker and

after school, and gave her gifts and notes). Wéred course of harassment that includes gender
non-specific threats and/or taunts is “becausgemnder, however, must be determined based on

“the sum total of abuse over timeHall v. Guardsmark, LLC, No. 11-115, 2012 WL 1564623,

at *9 (W.D. Pa. May 3, 2012) (citing Durhdunfe Ins. Co. v. Evans, 166 F.3d 139, 155 (3d

Cir.1999)).

In 2010, the Department of Education aldréehool districts it harassment with
sexually charged epithets by an ex-boyfriend constitutes sexual harassment for Title IX purposes.
Dep’t of Educ. OCR, “Dear Colleague” Lettatr6-7 (Oct. 26, 2010). Harassment by a former
paramour is considered sexual harassment ehem some of the harassing conduct appears

gender neutral. See Krebs v. New Kiagon-Arnold Sch. Dist., No. 16-610, 2016 WL

6820402, at *3-4 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 17, 2016) (coursharBissment by a large group of peers
which included calling plaintiffat and ugly, being threatened and attacked by female peers,
being told to kill herself, and being targetadex-boyfriend with term like “whore” and “slut”

constituted sexual harassment for purposestla X claim); cf. C.S. v. Southern Columbia

Sch. Dist., No. 4:12-CV-1013, 2018L 2371413, at *9 (M.D. Pa. May 21, 2013) (“in light of
the sexual assault, we cannot say as a mattamdahat those contacts and threats from the
perpetrators’ friends do not amount to sexual harassment”).

PSD argues that Doe has failed to allegedtict constituting sexual harassment. Def.

Mem. at 17. It contends thatititeer N. nor his friends ever asdtd or threatened Doe after her

12



June 2015 report._Id. at 20-21. PB8a@ies that even the allegelysical abuse by N. at the end
of N. and Doe’s relationship was resxual in nature. Id. at 18.

The harassment Doe claims she reportdelSD beginning in June 2015 qualified as
sexual harassment for Title IX purposes. N.’s daiithat Doe get back together with him or be
responsible for his death is recognized as deharassment “as a matterajurse.” _Andrews,
895 F.2d at 1482 n.3 (acknowledging “the interdiszriminate on the I of sex in cases
involving sexual propositions”). Ehsubsequent threats by N. drisl friends that it would be
Doe’s “fault” if N. killed himself, although perhamot sexual in isolation, continued that same
line of sexual harassment. See C.S., 20132811413, at *9. According to Doe, she dropped
out of the law enforcement progrdracause of the anxiety caused by this harassment. Doe Dep.
at 60. Given her testimony and documented comglaihstalking and gendéased insults like
“bitch” and “whore,” Doe has produced sufficievidence for a reasonable jury to find she
complained of sexual harassmeBee Krebs, 2016 WL 6820402, at *3-4.

B. Whether the Alleged Harassment was Severe or Pervasive

To constitute actionable sexual harassnibetoffending behavior must be sufficiently
“severe, pervasive, or objectively offensive’cieate a hostile educational environment. Doe by

& through Doe v. Boyertown Area Sch. Dist., 897 F.3d 518, 533 n.99 (3d Cir. 2018) (Title IX

sexual harassment cases in the educationatxiositould be guided by standards developed in
Title VII workplace sexual harassment cases). To determine whether alleged harassment is
“severe or pervasive,” the “overall scenario”shbe considered, not isolated incidents.

Abramson v. William Paterson Coll. of New Jersey, 260 F.3d 265, 276 (3d Cir. 2001); but see

Castleberry v. STI Group, 863 F.3d 259, 264-65 (3dZ0iL7) (a “single isated incident” of

sufficient severity could “creat hostile work environment”)Further, the harassment must

13



have been both subjectively offensive to pieantiff and objectively offensive. Andrews, 895

F.2d at 1482-83; see also Grooms v. City?hfladelphia, No. 17-2696, 2018 WL 4698856, at *6

(E.D. Pa. Sept. 28, 2018) (denying summary judgment because a reasonable jury could find three
comments made to solicit sexual interaction in cirstamces that reasonably led plaintiff to feel
physically threatened were sufficient tdaddish a hostile work environment).

Sexual harassment may be proven witidewnce of physical abuse, Krebs, 2016 WL
6820402, at *2, threatening behavior, Jones,BRBupp. 2d at 634-37, 644-46, and even mere

presence if the prior harassment has beéitismtly severe, Konstantopoulos v. Westvaco

Corp., 112 F.3d 710, 717 (3d Cir. 1997) (being forceddd in proximity to former harassers is

a “significant factor weighing ifavor” of hostile wak environment claim); see also Matrtin v.

Howard Univ., No. 99-1175, 1999 WL 1295339*at(D.D.C. Dec. 16, 1999) (denying
summary judgment motion in sexual harassnot&i because whether eight contacts with
alleged “stalker” constituted sufficiently sevenad pervasive activity was a jury question).
PSD contends that, even ietharassment Doe alleges@sidered sexual, it was not
severe, pervasive, or objectively offensive@egh to create an actionable hostile environment
under Title IX. Def. Mem. at 17. Viewing the fagh the light most favable to Doe, however,
she endured a campaign of harassment orgabized abusive former boyfriend that consisted
of social media threats, statj, taunting, and ultimately a physit¢hfteat in school. Doe Dep. at
53-55, 71-76, 193-94; Def. Exs. 29, 31, 33, 34, 37,Epecially given the frequency with
which Doe alleges this harassment took placeaaanable jury could find it meets the objective
“severe or pervasive” standard for seMuarassment. Grooms, 2018 WL 4698846, at *6.

C. Whether PSD was Deliberately Indifferent

To establish that PSD’s response to hegaliens evinced “deliberate indifference,” Doe

14



must show its actions were “clearly unreasoedbDavis, 526 U.S. at 648. Failing to undertake
new measures when an initial approach hdasda@an be sufficient to establish deliberate

indifference, S.K. v. N. Allegheny Sch. Dist§8 F. Supp. 3d 786, 802 (W.D. Pa. 2016), but it

requires “that the official disgard a known or obvious conseqeceif his action or inaction.”

Bernard v. E. Stroudsburg Univ., No. 3:09-52614 WL 4093069, at *3 (M.D. Pa. October 18,

2014).

To support her claim that PSD was “delibehaindifferent” to her injuries, Doe cites
testimony from DeBona and McHale that PSD rtaaired a different Title IX policy in practice
than it did on paper. See PIl. Ex. 5 at 249 (MleHestimony) (“Q: is thre any other policy that
you're aware of that gives administratorshennity to investigate complaints of sexual
harassment? A: | think it would be unwrittenipplthat they had the #uority in their position
as a high school administrator tov@stigate a student complaint.”).

Doe contends PSD’s policy was to refer sexual harassment allegations to the Title IX
Coordinator only after thelyad been investigated and deemalstantiated. Pl. Ex. 5 at 249.
DeBona testified:

A: If we do an investigation and throughat the conclusion of the investigation

we determine there’s clear and pervasive harassment, we will include Jacqui
McHale.

Q: Sojust so | understand, that means that you don’t always inform McHale when
there’s an allegation of harassmdnit you do inform her if there is an
investigation that substantiates harassment; is that right?

A: We will involve her when it is hassment as it would pertain to sex and
gender under Title IX. We would not includer if it was peer conflict and we put
safety plans in plac® support the students.

Q: Right. So — I'm just trying to undersi@ sort of the timeline here. So we have
here a student’s allegation that sheasstantly harassed by another student. Was
the decision not to inform McHale tife allegation because you only inform her
once something’s been substantiated?

15



A: We have a student who alleges thla¢ was constantly harassed. We don’t
have statements or we don’t haveadmentation to support the constantly
harassed. We have a peer conflict that we addressed along the way when Doe
would bring the incidents to Mr. Hegerdgtention and they would be addressed
and plans put in place.

Q: So — ok. I have a couple of questiah®ut this. Again, | know it sounds like
I’'m really splitting hairs herdyut | want to make sure | have a clear answer to my
guestion. You do not report all allegatiafsharassment to Jacqui McHale; is

that correct?

A: We do not report peer conflict to Jacqui McHale. We will report cases of
harassment based on sex, gender, mrgghnicity to Jacqui McHale.

Q: I'll repeat the same question that l'asked multiple times. Are all allegations
of harassment reported Jacqui McHale?

A: All allegations of harassment basedsax, gender, and ethnicity, et cetera, is
reported to Jacqui McHale.

Q: So why was Doe'’s allegation of ctenst harassment not reported to her?

A: Because we didn’t see this as harasgrbhased on sex, gender. We saw this as
a peer conflict, of which we were puttisgfety plans in place to support Doe and
the other student, both of whom have rights.

Pl. Ex. 6 at 226-33.

A reasonable jury could conclude that P@Bintained an unwritten policy requiring any
allegations of sexual harassment to be investigatedsubstantiated before they were referred to
the Title IX coordinator in \alation of PSD Policy No. 248. It could also find that Hegen
ignored Doe’s repeated compits based on this policy.

Further, Pennridge Defendants had reasdietaware that thbehavior Doe was
describing constituted sexual harassmente dBil0 Department of Education guidance
described the classic example of “sexual harasshas a female student who, after a break up,
finds herself responding to rumors about her aelkeghavior, being “routinely call[ed] . . .

sexually charged names,” and receiving “thremig text messages and emails.” 10/2010 Dear
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Colleague Letter at 6. It alstescribed an appropriate response, which includes “conduct[ing] a

thorough investigation,” “tak[ing] interim meass$rto separate the student from the accused
harassers,” and “more widely distributing tletact information for the district’s Title IX
coordinator.” _Id. at 7. In cordst, a jury could find that whddoe complained to Hegen that she
was being stalked daily by her abusive ex-bowfftiehe called her a “drama queen” and failed to
document her complaintsDoe Dep. at 102.

Only the December 2015 incident triggeredrarestigation, which consisted of Hegen
requiring four of five identified stdent withesses to complete incident forms. Def. Exs. 42-45.
According to Doe, during the December 2015 inotd®l. raised his fists to his chest in a
threatening gesture. Def. Ex. 42. Itis uncle@bhether Defendants contdébat the gesture took
place, or merely contest that it was threatenibgf. Mem. at 22 (“Clearly, Doe’s demonstration
of N.’s actions are not threategi gestures.”). Regardless, tlisputed facts preclude summary
judgment. A reasonable jury could believe D the gesture took ma, and find raising his
fists to chest level threateningee&sDef. Ex. 46. This is especiafly if it finds N. raised his fists
at a former girlfriend he had physicalipused. C.S., 20MJL 2371413, at *9.

A reasonable jury could believe Hegenament of the December 2015 incident and

Doe’s earlier complaints was “cldyaunreasonable” based on his faduo take into account: (1)

Doe’s prior report of a sexuallationship and physical abuseher bedroom by N.; (2) the

8 Doe has also produced evidence that sstgg@SD should have been on notice that N.

posed a potential threat to female students. disaplinary files reveahe had previously been
accused of sex-based harassment by othdests in October 2013 and April 2014. PSOF 11
305-06. He had allegedly sent inappropriately sexual texts to a 13-year-old in October 2013. Pl.
Ex. 17. His poor behavior in the technical sdhadnich included theft, lack of preparation,
horseplay, excessive talkingydhinappropriate comments, algpparently involved sexual

comments. Pl. Ex. 18. It resulted in anotfeanale student leaving the program because he
“crosse[d] a line and just [didn’t] know when to stop.” Id.
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administration’s prior requestdahN. stay away from Do€3) N.’s history of sex-based
harassment of other students; and (4) Doe’s multiple prior and subsequent complaints, during the
2015-16 school year, of harassment by N.’sfilig stalking, and sexual insults by N. See

Krebs, 2016 WL 6820402, at *4; C.S., 2013 \®R871413, at *1; Andrews, 895 F.2d at 1485

(“the pervasive use of derogatory and insultiegns relating to womegenerally and addressed
to female employees personally may serve asecel of a hostile environment”), superseded in

part by statute, Civil Rights Act of 1991ul®. L. No. 102-166, 105 Stat. 1072; see also Vance v.

Spencer Cty. Pub. Sch. Dist., 231 F.3d 253, 289 Q. 2000) (alleged harassment was

sufficient to state a Title IXlaim when the student’'s compits “curiously warranted . . .

completing her studies at home, but not anstigation”); cf. Konstantopoulos, 112 F.3d at 716

(finding formerly hostile environment was remediiwhen, upon employee’s return to work after
period of leave, co-workers had been waragdinst harassment; new procedures for remedying
improper conduct had been implemented; supervisade frequent, unannounced visits to the
area; and employee made no further complaints).

Title IX regulations and PSD’s policy both require complaints of sexual harassment to be
investigated, with notice to thitle IX coordinator. 34 C.F.R. 8§ 106.8; Policy No. 248, Step 2.
Viewed in the light most favorable to Doesemsonable jury could finSD’s unwritten policies
were clearly unreasonable, and the district deliberately indifferertio Doe’s repeated
complaints of sexual harassment when it followessé unwritten policies instead of the Title IX
guidance, regulations, and official PSD policgagding categorization dfehavior as sexual
harassment, investigation of sexual harassriéggations, and involvemeof the Title 1X
coordinator once sexual harassment has been alleged.

Finally, a reasonable jury caltonclude that, becauseR$D’s failure to address the
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ongoing harassment and repeated denials of hergefqualternative placement at the technical
school, Doe was forced to accept the only altéregtlacement offered to her: the Twilight
program. PSOF | 41; Def. Exs. 75, 77. It coust dind this program was inferior to those at
PHS and the technical school because Doe finiieedoursework for her junior and senior
years of high school in one month. PSOF 11 43-44; DSOF | 163.

Defendants’ motion for summary judgmentéenied as to Count 1. Doe has produced
sufficient evidence from which a reasonable joould find that: (1) Doendured a physically
and emotionally abusive relationship with N.; e informed PSD officials about abuse within
that relationship sometime after the relationstds terminated; (3) after their relationship
ended, N. and his friends intesrially harassed Doe on social media; (4) N. was instructed to
stay away from Doe; (5) after being instructedgtay away from Doe, N. intentionally
intimidated Doe by stalking and taunting her atS2k6) Doe repeatedly informed authorities
that N. and his friends weretemtionally harassing and stalking her; (7) PSD failed to document
all of Doe’s complaints aboi.; (8) PSD authorities failet investigate most of Doe’s
complaints about N.; (9) PSD failed to follow a&n Title IX policy when it did investigate one
of Doe’s complaints about N.; (10) PSD cardzd, without adequateviestigation, that Doe’s
December 2015 complaint about N. could not be verified; (11) PSD failed to take corrective
action reasonably designed to allow Doe to safelytinue her education at PHS; and (12) PSD
failed to provide Doe an equivalent ediiga in an alternative environment.

3. Claim 2: 8§ 1983 Retaliation

To establish a § 1983 retaliation claim, Doest first set forth a prima face case of
retaliation by demonstrating: (1) she compdairof sexual harassnte(2) PSD knew she had

complained of sexual harassment; and (3) PSD @dokrse action againstrh@) because of her
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complaints._Yan Yan v. Penn State Univ., 522%pp’'x 167, 171 (3d Cir. 2013). Whether an

action is “adverse” is an objective assessmemttadther it produced “injury or harm.”

Burlington Northern & Santa FeyRv. White, 548 U.S. 53, 67 (2006).

Viewed in the light most favorable to Dasyidence establishes that she began requesting
full-time placement outside PHS in June 2015, spreetifically at the tdmical vocational school
in September 2015. PI. Ex. 10. She submitbd@HS recommendations from two medical
professionals for placement at the technichbstin fall 2015 and she or a family member
requested this placement at least five more tineésre PSD agreed to evaluate her eligibility on
November 24, 2015. DSOF { 74, Def. Exs. 34, 60ERI 15. Before agreeing to evaluate her,
but after receiving the recommendation from Dgeimary care provider, Hegen wrote an email
informing his colleagues of his opposition to Doeguests. Def. Ex. 33. When he requested
that Owens evaluate Doe’s elidity, Hegen explained the evaluati needed to be done simply
“to go through the process.” Pl. Ex. 53. Befbeeconducted any evaluation of her anxiety or
post-traumatic stress disorder (“PTSD”), Owensteito Hegen that, based on Doe’s grades and
attendance record, “she most likely will not meet ohthe criteria to receive special education
services.” Pl. Ex. 54. According to Doe’s ekp©wens failed to appropriately assess Doe for
special educational services based on her PTSD andyadisetder. Pl. Ex. 48.

A reasonable jury could determine that P@B-judged Doe ineligible for special
education services before evalagther, and that they did so besauhey were frustrated with

Doe’s ongoing complaints. See, e.g., Pl. Ex("SBe is just fixated on not being here”).

Because there are material factslispute which a reasonable jury could resolve in Doe’s favor
regarding her claims for Title IX sexual harassment and 8 1983 retaliation, Defendant’s motion

for summary judgment on Count 2 is deni&ke Farrell v. Plantetsfesavers Co., 206 F.3d

20



271, 284 (3d Cir. 2000) (Plaintiff may rely onleoad array” of circumstantial evidence to
establish retaliatory animus); see also DepEduc. OCR, “Q&A on Title IX and Sexual
Violence” (April 29, 2014) at 7 (“[estudent who has not been previously determined to have a
disability may, as a result of experiencingisa violence, develop mental health-related
disability that coulccause the student to need speedhlication and related services”).
V. Claims3and 4: § 1983 Failureto Train and Supervisory Liability
To establish a hostile environment equal protection claim, Doe must prove all the

elements of her Title IX claim and that “tharassment was the result of municipal custom,

policy, or practice.”_Fitzgetd v. Barnstable Sch. Comns55 U.S. 246, 257-58 (2009) (citing

Monell v. New York City Dept. of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 694 (1978)).

1. Claim 3: Failure to Train against PSD

To establish a §1983 failure t@in claim, Doe must provedhe was: (1) an “identified
deficiency” in the training (2) caused by a deldderindifference to haights (3) that “actually

caused” the constitutionalolation. Thomas v. Cumbl@and Cty., 749 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir.

2014); see also Kline ex rel. Arndt v. Mardfi, 255 F. App’'x 624, 629 (3d Cir. 2007) (“Failure

to train can be the basis for Haorg’s liability if the failure tarain reflects a deliberate or
conscious choice by Hamburg”).

The cross-motions for summary judgmerd denied. Defendants assert that the
undisputed facts show their tnéng was adequate. Def. Mernt.38-39. Doe has produced an
expert who disagrees. Pl. Ex. 59 at 2. Mwer, PSD cannot dispute that, as of August 2015,
Hegen was unable to identify thiéle 1X coordinator, PSOF { 338o0e asserts the training was
inadequate as a matter of law and caused hergksnhut since the material factual disputes

described above preclude finding as a matter of law that she suffered statutory or constitutional
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damage, she cannot be awarded summarymedty Banks v. Gallagher, 686 F. Supp. 2d 499,

511 (M.D. Pa. 2009) (“[f]or a failure to train @fa. . . the first element is proof that an

underlying constitutional violation Babccurred . . . [and because ] . . . the evidence provided . . .

could only possibly demonstrate a violation . .mewary judgment is inappropriate”). Further,
there are material factual dispstas to the content of thaitring, apart from the documentation
of the training, that must be réged by a jury._See DSOF {{ 186-284.

A. Official Capacity Failure to Trai Claim against Individual Defendants

Doe brought her failure to train claim agdiRSD as well as Rattigan and DeBona, who
were both acting in their officialapacities to the extent they pieed, and/or failed to plan, PSD
employee Title IX training. Compl. 1Y 68-74. Besainclusion of thendividual defendants in
this claim is merely redundant with the reaitpan interest, PSD, | will dismiss Doe’s Count 3
failure to train claim against DefendantsttR@mn and DeBona. Hall v. Raech, No. 08-5020,
2009 WL 2009 WL 811503, at *3 (B. Pa. Mar. 25, 2009).

2. Claim 4: Supervisory LiabilinAgainst Rattigan and DeBona

To establish supervisory liability agair®attigan and DeBona for her § 1983 hostile
environment claim, Doe must identify théaffirmative conduct.”_Andrews, 895 F.2d at 1478.
This conduct can be that one or both “established and main&aip@cty, practice or custom
which directly caused theonstitutional harm,” or “participat! in violating Plaintiff's rights,
directed others to violate them, or, as thespe in charge, had knowledgéand acquiesced to”

her subordinate’s violations. A.M. ex relMIK. v. Luzerne Cty. Juvdle Det. Ctr., 372 F.3d

572, 585 (3d Cir. 2004).
Doe challenges the PSD policies of: (1) faglito notify the Title IXcoordinator of all

harassment complaints; (2) failing to investigateeports of harassmgnegardless of where
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they occur; and (3) failing to submit written refsoof harassment investigations to the Title I1X
coordinator. Pl. Mem. at 19. EBdants deny such policies exist. Def. Resp. at 31-33. They
also seek qualified immunity bause, even if such conduct é&t it did “notviolate clearly
established statutory or constitutional rightswiich a reasonable person would have known.”

City of Escondido, Cal. v. Emmons, 139 S. Ct. 500, 503 (2019); McGreevy v. Stroup, 413 F.3d

359, 364 (3d Cir. 2005) (citing Harlow Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982)).

Doe’s second theory — that PSD had an obligation to investigate the assault that Doe

alleged occurred in her bedroom in April 2015 ondeatned of the incident in June 2015 — fails

as a matter of law. See Taylor v. Besk135 S. Ct. 2042, 2045 (2015). Doe relies on
Department of Education guidance that was fectfwhen she made her June 2015 complaint to
argue she had a “clearly estabésg” right to an investigatioof alleged off-campus sexual
violence. In an April 4, 2011 Dear Colleaguttdg the Department of Education noted that,
“[i]f a student files a complatrwith the school, gardless of where the conduct occurred, the
school must process the complaint in accordantteits established precures.” Dep't of
Educ. OCR, “Dear Colleague” tter (April 4, 2011). Threeears later, the Department
reiterated that schools must “process all comfganh sexual violence, regardless of where the
conduct occurred,” and that “[tfjhe mere presenon campus or in an off-campus education
program or activity of the alleged perpetratootifcampus sexual violence can have continuing
effects that create a hostile emriment.” 4/2014 Q&A at 29-30.

Nonetheless, there was no specific individugthtito an investigatin rooted in statutory

or constitutional law. “Guidance letters da eojoy Chevron deference.” K.D. by & through

Dunn v. Downingtown Area Sch. Dist., 904 F34B, 255-56 (3d Cir. 2018) (citing Christensen

v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576, 586-87 (2000) and Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. NRDC, 467 U.S. 837
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(1984)). Further, both guidances note theyridbadd requirements to applicable law.” 4/2011
Dear Colleague Letter at 1 n.1; 4/2014 Q&A at.1. Both also acknowledge the different legal
standards applicable to administrative eoéonent actions and private suits for monetary
damages. 4/2011 Dear Colleague Letter mtl2; 4/2014 Q&A at 1 n.9. Moreover, like the
“Dear Colleague” letter disssed in K.D., the 2011 and 2014 Department of Education
guidances neither reference nor explain aifipetatutory or regutory obligation. See 904

F.3d at 255-56.

Finally, both guidances were rescinde@@17, in part because there was no notice and
comment period before they were issued arghith because they constituted “a confusing and
counterproductive set of regulatory mandatd3€p’t of Educ. OCR, “Dear Colleague” Letter
(Sept. 22, 2017). New guidance notes there idnty“under Title 1X to ddress an incident of
alleged harassment where the incident ocotfreampus and does not involve a program or
activity of the recipient,” altough schools are “responsible fodmessing a hostile environment
that occurs on campus even if it relatesftecampus activities.” Dep’'of Educ. OCR, “Q&A
on Campus Sexual Misconduct” (Sept. 2017). &fme, even assuming the guidances were
“thoroughlly] ... consider[ed] and ‘valid[ly] ...eason[ed] about the meaning of” Title IX, they
did not “clearly establish” spda new procedural rights for ggal harassment victims. K.D.,

904 F.3d at 256 (citing Skidmore Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 140 (1944)).

In determining whether a specific right idearly established” for purposes of qualified
immunity, a school’s responsibility for sexual nosduct is limited by the extent to which they
control the harasser and/or the harasser’'s emviemt. Davis, 526 U.S. at 644. Because of the
tension between this requirement and thpddement of Education guidance directing

investigation of off-campus incidents, DeBarad Rattigan cannot li@ble for violating a
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“clearly established” right based solely on tHailure to investigate Doe’s April 2015 complaint
of off-campus sexual violence. They are entitequalified immunity on that theory. Taylor,
135 S. Ct. at 2045.

The results are different for Doe’s first andtditheories of supervisory liability, which
focus on PSD'’s alleged failure to implementaten Title IX policy. Doe asserts McHale never
met with a student harassment victim duringtivee at PSD, and was never mentioned in PHS’s
601 pages of reports documenting “sexual or gehdsed derogatory tefs), gesture[s], or

conduct” from the 2015-16 school year, or the 4@gseaof discipline records classified as

“harassment” between January 2014 and October 2Bl Mem. at 22; see also Def. Ex. 25 at
40-42 (McHale only worked on two Title IX ecesat PHS — one OCR complaint regarding
funding of extra-curricular activities and théated Goodwin case). Defendants contend the 601
pages do not address sex-based harassmernhend pages were investigated, just not by
McHale. Def. Resp. at 31-32.

Defendants also contend Doe cannot showBedona’s and/or Rattigan’s conduct was
“clearly unreasonable” and theoe¢ evinced “deliberate indiffence” to victims of sexual

harassment. Barkes v. First Corr. Médc,., 766 F.3d 307 319-20 (3d Cir. 2014) (finding

deliberate indifference when “a state official, bstwe of his or her own deliberate indifference
to known deficiencies in a government polayprocedure, has allowed to develop an
environment in which there is an unreasonablethigak a constitutional injury will occur, and

that such an injury doegcour”), overturned on another basitaylor, 135 S. Ct. at 2042.

Factual disputes preclude summary judgmaéfiewed in the light most favorable to
Doe, a reasonable jury could find Rattigan an8®e violated “clearly established” Title IX

law by failing to prevent a hostile environmentemtithey intentionally: (1) failed to notify the
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Title 1X coordinator of Doe’s complaints of sedltharassment; and (2) failed to provide the Title
IX coordinator any sexual harassment invegtan reports. 34 C.F.R. 8106.8. A reasonable
jury could find PHS administrate ratified a shadowrocedure that failed to accurately
categorize student complaints, thereby autlagiadministrators tbypass PSD’s Title IX

policy. The evidence includes testimony by DeBora tiould reasonably be considered evasive
regarding the existence thfis unwritten policy. Def. Ex. 9 826-34;_see also supra at 15-16. It
also includes the Title IX coordinator's admasithat she heard of only two Title IX matters
during her tenure at PHS and hasereseen an investigation repdrDef. Ex. 25 at 39-42.

Title 1X requires institutions to iderfyi “at least one employee” responsible for
“coordinat[ing]” its Title IX responsibilities34 C.F.R. § 106.8. Students must be able to
identify this individual,_id. 8 106.8(a), andetiprocess for making complaints under Title IX
must be clear, id. 8 106.8(b). To the extent MeHeas designated to a&s$ this individual, Doe
was not informed._See id. 8§ 106.8(a). To therexteat Hegen and othassistant principals
filled this role, it is uncleahow they were “designate[d]” to do so by PSD. See id. § 106.8;
Policy No. 248. Dissemination of informatiohaut the “protection against discrimination

assured . . . by Title IX” is a large part of thatste’s requirements, and to the extent that PSD’s

o A reasonable jury also could find thaé thnwritten policies existed based in part on

evidence from the disciplinary files. Forample, in October 2015, concurrent with the
complaints made by Doe, a student complaeiealt other students whio]ver the months of
September, and now a portion of October . vehapeatedly called me Retarded, gay, a faggot
(Pardon the language), and multiple other malicious and degrading terms including the word
Coon . . . pushed, shoved and hit me on mulogleEasions.” Def. Ex. 14 at Doe-PSD003246.
Email correspondence regarding timsident between a teacherdatwo administrators suggests
that the teacher believed tleoactivities constituted harassmeand violated PSD policy, and

that PSD was reluctant to invoke its antidemment policy. Id. at Doe-PSD003245 (“It is now
time for the district to step up and enforce policy it has spent so much time and effort
promoting”). This incident, which implicatesgx- and race-based harassment, was never
brought to McHale’s attention, as hauld have been under PSD Policy No. 248.
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procedure relied on opaque unwritten rules andguiures, a reasonable jury could find those
people responsible for the policies liable fa #nsuing hostile environment. See Hill v.
Cundiff, 797 F.3d 948, 973-74 (11@ir. 2015) (denying summary judgment based, in part, on
district’s policies of (1) allowing ad hoc categation of disciplinaryissues, and (2) requiring
an enhanced burden of proof for sexual harassailmgations). A reamable jury could find
Defendants’ conduct violatedighclearly established lawhereby precluding qualified

immunity.

Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment reges viewing the facts in the light most
favorable to Defendants. #kd, 2008 WL 2329101, at *3. Viewad this light, there were
other reasons the harassment complaints never tcatine attention of thé&itle IX coordinator.

A reasonable jury could find that emails showel3ocomplaints were not investigated because
she has a long history of peer conflict, includasgthe perceived aggressor, failed to provide
sufficient detail to allow investigation of alledygexual harassment, and that her complaints were

reasonably discounted based on prior incidents of untruthfulness. See, e.g., Def. Ex. 142 (Doe

asked to switch programs, then told her gramither she was being forced to switch programs,
and regularly complained to administrataisut bullying and/oharassment without
“provid[ng] any specifics”).

Because material facts regarding the texise of an unwritten policy and PSD’s
adherence to its written policy are disputed,ghgies’ cross-motions feummary judgment are
denied.

An appropriate Order follows.
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